

To: Cape Elizabeth Town Council

From: Michael K. McGovern



Re: Surplus Policy

Date: June 1, 2011

With the implementation of GASB 54 accounting rules and with recent discussions regarding surplus policy, it is timely to have a discussion regarding surplus policies.

The current surplus policy was prepared 8 years ago at a time when we had never met the surplus target. After a banner year in FY 2010, we met the surplus target for the first time.

The current policy in the opinion of management has three significant structural problems.

First, if we have a banner year such as we had in FY 2010, the amount of surplus generated would cause a yo-yo effect in tax rates if the entire amount over the target was immediately applied to lowering the tax rate. This is not in keeping with long term financial planning for the municipal government nor for citizens planning their tax payments and escrow payments to their mortgage companies. It is better advised to moderate radical adjustments in the tax rate.

Second, the current policy does not differentiate the undesignated school surplus from the balance of the surplus. As the School Board and not the Town Council controls the use of the school surplus, it should not be used in the calculation. Under GASB 54, the school surplus would not be "unassigned" so it is not available as part of the calculation.

Third, the current policy does allow for some use of the surplus for budget and capital needs when the target is not met, but has no flexibility in times when the target is met.

For example, helping with the school boiler and the school funding shortfalls technically should not have occurred under the current policy. Nor could any funds have been provided for the Future Open Space Committee or for the Fort Williams Park master plan as was done this past year. If we had a disaster or a need for severance expenses such as we had when consolidating dispatching, the current policy provides for flexibility only when the target is not met.

The draft policy below seeks to address these concerns.

To facilitate understanding of the effect of the policy:

In FY 2010, we ended the year with the surplus at 139% of target with a gain for the year of \$1,217,933. Of this amount, \$923,460 was above the target. Of the \$923,460, \$223,412 was school surplus and \$700,048 was the municipal portion above the target. Total revenues were \$28,349,337. A strict reading of the current policy would have required \$923,460 to be applied to tax reduction. The adopted budget provided 50% of the \$700,048 to tax reduction or \$350,000.

The draft policy would have applied \$354,225 to tax reduction. (15% of the \$2,361,500 target) .

Town of Cape Elizabeth Fund Balance Policy

The Town of Cape Elizabeth shall comply with GASB 54 standards for reporting fund balances.

The fund balance shall be reported in five categories:

- Non-spendable- Funds that cannot be spent because they are either illiquid or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.
- Restricted- Funds that are constrained with either externally imposed constraints or mandated to be reserved by law.
- Committed- Funds that can only be used for certain purposes per a formal action of the Town Council
- Assigned- Funds that are constrained by the Town Council's intent of use for a certain purpose, but are neither restricted nor committed.
- Unassigned- The residual classification for the general fund.

The general fund shall seek to have an ~~undesigned~~ unassigned municipal (excluding schools) fund balance of 8.33% of annual general fund operating revenues. This is equivalent to revenues anticipated in an average one month period

If the ~~targeted-undesigned~~ unassigned municipal (excluding schools) fund balance ~~target~~ is exceeded, 100% of any excess funds between 100% and 115% of the target shall be used to reduce the tax commitment in the next budget to be considered by the Town Council. Any amount over 115% of the target may be committed or assigned for any capital need or unanticipated expenditure or may be placed in an assigned fund for future property tax relief.

~~Until~~ If the undesignated unassigned fund balance reaches falls below its target level, an interim objective is to increase as a percentage of operating revenues the ~~undesignated unassigned~~ fund balance every year. The balance shall not be used to support the annual budget or ~~other~~ for capital needs to a degree that the ~~undesignated unassigned~~ fund balance will be a lower percentage of operating revenues than in the previous year.

Museum at Portland Head Light Fund

The Museum at Portland Head Light Fund is an independent 501C entity under the control of a board of directors consisting of the members of the Cape Elizabeth Town Council.

The Museum at Portland Head Light Fund shall have an ~~undesignated unassigned~~ fund balance of not more than 100% of its annual projected income nor less than 25% of its annual projected income. Any excess greater than the ~~undesignated unassigned~~ fund balance target shall be used for improvements to the property and for operating expenses as provided in the by-laws of the Museum at Portland Head Light.

Credit FAQ:

GASB 54: How Will It Change Fund Balance Reporting?

Primary Credit Analysts:

Karl Jacob, New York (1) 212-438-2111; karl_jacob@standardandpoors.com

Sherman A Myers, New York (1) 212-438-4229; sherman_myers@standardandpoors.com

Theodore Chapman, Dallas (1) 214-871-1401; theodore_chapman@standardandpoors.com

Table Of Contents

Frequently Asked Questions

Related Criteria And Research

Credit FAQ:

GASB 54: How Will It Change Fund Balance Reporting?

Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 54 (GASB 54) is a new rule intended to make fund accounting in general, and fund balance reporting in specific, more consistent and transparent by assigning strict rules for the classification of governmental fund balances based on "specific purposes for which amounts in those funds can be spent." The new classifications, in order of most to least restrictive, are:

- Non-spendable--balances that cannot be spent because they are either illiquid or legally or contractually required to be maintained intact;
- Restricted--constraints placed on these resources that were either externally imposed or mandated by law;
- Committed--funds that can only be used for certain purposes as per a formal action by that government's highest level of decision-making authority;
- Assigned--funds that are constrained by the government's intent of use for a certain purpose, but are neither restricted nor committed; and
- Unassigned--the residual classification for the general fund.

Standard & Poor's Ratings Services supports efforts to improve transparency and disclosure. We note, however, that the financial condition of a rated issuer has always been, and remains, one of the key factors in our rating analysis regardless of the type of financial reporting.

Frequently Asked Questions

How will this new rule affect Standard & Poor's view of the creditworthiness of rated U.S. public finance issuers?

We will soon be updating the language in our credit analyses, and our opinion of the relative strengths of the respective issuer's reserve levels, to incorporate these new classifications. Over time, we will have sufficient data to also update various statistical summary credit comments to include GASB 54. However, at this time, we do not believe the recharacterization of fund balance labels will, by themselves, materially affect credit. There still remain some parts of the country that do not even use GASB-format financial statement reporting, such as those who use cash-based accounting.

What is the effective date for GASB 54?

Aside from those issuers choosing to implement GASB 54 early, most issuers will begin compliance starting with their fiscal 2011 financial reporting. Besides the early implementers, issuers may also choose to retroactively update the unaudited statistical section of their comprehensive audited financial report simply for illustrative purposes, but that is purely at their discretion.

How will GASB 54 affect financial reporting for issuers that Standard & Poor's rates?

In general, GASB has represented that Statement 54 is intended to provide a better picture of how liquid and available the reporting entity's reserves are. Some reserves may simply reflect a non-liquid asset like materials and supplies; a large receivable (such as property taxes) that is not currently available; or a fiduciary responsibility that the reporting government provides, in which case the reserves are never available. Not every one of the five labels

may always be applicable or used in a given financial report for a given reporting period.

What can be learned from the three categories that represent some kind of spending constraint on that fund balance?

Among restricted, committed, and assigned fund balance, the "assigned" category is most likely to be correlated with liquid reserves that may be lawfully available for any purpose and might be included in what we would calculate as available fund balance. This is because the governing body viewed the reserves as assigned because it has some intended use for those reserves; however, the intent can be changed or withdrawn either by the governing body or even by its lawful delegates, such as top administrative officials. Restricted fund balance is restricted because some kind of externally, legally enforceable claim on the reporting entity's assets is present, such as from a creditor or regulator. Committed fund balance has constraints that the reporting entity has itself placed on its reserves, but only the governing body can remove. We would incorporate into our analysis whether the governing body could legally or even politically choose to remove such constraints before determining whether or not such funds are also included as available. GASB, however, has indicated a true rainy day fund might be classified as any of these, or even as unassigned, depending on the level of oversight and approval of use required by the governing body. GASB expects issuers to display further disclosure on rainy day funds in the notes to the financial statements.

What is the unassigned fund balance?

The unassigned fund balance is simply a calculation: as the excess of total fund balance less the other four categories. It will be a positive balance in the general fund, but could be negative in any other governmental fund. We continue to consider in our analysis whether revenues and reserves in other funds are material to the credit rating. For example, sometimes revenues in other funds may support general governmental operations or even debt service, and reserves in those funds may be available for emergencies or contingencies or even for future general appropriations.

Doesn't GASB 54 therefore imply that having larger percentages or amounts of unrestricted cash or highly liquid cash equivalents with no identifiable constraints, and the reserves clearly available for any lawful purpose, would be a credit strength?

We recognize that any audited financial statements represent a snapshot in time. Key revenue streams for a particular issuer can vary from state to state, by governmental entity or issuer type, and even by time of year. For this reason, our analysis typically includes an evaluation of cash flows and requirements, to determine if there are particular periods of stress, and if so, to what degree (if any) we believe they are a credit concern. Most issuers have significant working capital requirements throughout their fiscal year, while some do not. Some may experience little or no distress during times of peak liquidity needs, while for others the distress may be significant. Additionally, we do not require that a rated issuer attain certain financial or other metrics simply to attain a particular rating level.

Related Criteria And Research

- USPF Criteria: GO Debt, Oct. 12, 2006
- USPF Criteria: Investment Guidelines, June 25, 2007
- USPF Criteria: Key General Obligation Ratio Credit Ranges – Analysis Vs. Reality, April 2, 2008

Copyright © 2011 by Standard & Poors Financial Services LLC (S&P), a subsidiary of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. All rights reserved.

No content (including ratings, credit-related analyses and data, model, software or other application or output therefrom) or any part thereof (Content) may be modified, reverse engineered, reproduced or distributed in any form by any means, or stored in a database or retrieval system, without the prior written permission of S&P. The Content shall not be used for any unlawful or unauthorized purposes. S&P, its affiliates, and any third-party providers, as well as their directors, officers, shareholders, employees or agents (collectively S&P Parties) do not guarantee the accuracy, completeness, timeliness or availability of the Content. S&P Parties are not responsible for any errors or omissions, regardless of the cause, for the results obtained from the use of the Content, or for the security or maintenance of any data input by the user. The Content is provided on an "as is" basis. S&P PARTIES DISCLAIM ANY AND ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, ANY WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR USE, FREEDOM FROM BUGS, SOFTWARE ERRORS OR DEFECTS, THAT THE CONTENT'S FUNCTIONING WILL BE UNINTERRUPTED OR THAT THE CONTENT WILL OPERATE WITH ANY SOFTWARE OR HARDWARE CONFIGURATION. In no event shall S&P Parties be liable to any party for any direct, indirect, incidental, exemplary, compensatory, punitive, special or consequential damages, costs, expenses, legal fees, or losses (including, without limitation, lost income or lost profits and opportunity costs) in connection with any use of the Content even if advised of the possibility of such damages.

Credit-related analyses, including ratings, and statements in the Content are statements of opinion as of the date they are expressed and not statements of fact or recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell any securities or to make any investment decisions. S&P assumes no obligation to update the Content following publication in any form or format. The Content should not be relied on and is not a substitute for the skill, judgment and experience of the user, its management, employees, advisors and/or clients when making investment and other business decisions. S&P's opinions and analyses do not address the suitability of any security. S&P does not act as a fiduciary or an investment advisor. While S&P has obtained information from sources it believes to be reliable, S&P does not perform an audit and undertakes no duty of due diligence or independent verification of any information it receives.

S&P keeps certain activities of its business units separate from each other in order to preserve the independence and objectivity of their respective activities. As a result, certain business units of S&P may have information that is not available to other S&P business units. S&P has established policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of certain non-public information received in connection with each analytical process.

S&P may receive compensation for its ratings and certain credit-related analyses, normally from issuers or underwriters of securities or from obligors. S&P reserves the right to disseminate its opinions and analyses. S&P's public ratings and analyses are made available on its Web sites, www.standardandpoors.com (free of charge), and www.ratingsdirect.com and www.globalcreditportal.com (subscription), and may be distributed through other means, including via S&P publications and third-party redistributors. Additional information about our ratings fees is available at www.standardandpoors.com/usratingsfees.



Public Finance Criteria: Key General Obligation Ratio Credit Ranges – Analysis Vs. Reality

Primary Credit Analysts:

David G Hitchcock
New York
(1) 212-438-2022
david_hitchcock@
standardandpoors.com

Karl Jacob
New York
(1) 212-438-2111
karl_jacob@
standardandpoors.com

James Wiemken
Chicago
(1) 312-233-7005
james_wiemken@
standardandpoors.com

Municipal governments maintained strong ratios in key general obligation (GO) performance measures through 2007, despite continued concern about current economic conditions and the impact on governments. The representative ranges of ratios for GO debt issuers in table 1 provide an indication, through the use of descriptors, of what constitutes a high to low ratio from an analytical credit perspective. The selected ratios represent key factors Standard & Poor's Ratings Services uses in the credit rating process and an indication of their weighting.

These key ratios complement Standard & Poor's annual release of historical median ratios for local governments (see "U.S. GO Rating Distributions And Summary Ratios: Year-End 2007," published Jan. 2, 2008). Our annually calculated medians are broken out by types of government, rating categories, and population. The medians represent recent measures of economic, financial, and debt characteristics for rated credits. These statistics will drift up and down during the economic cycle, as Standard & Poor's analysis is forward looking. In recent years, the medians have outperformed analytic guidelines.

Reading Behind The Numbers

Medians, particularly for lesser-weighted ratios, may give a false impression in certain cases that Standard & Poor's is concerned by deviations from the medians, when in fact there may be analytical comfort in a broad band of numbers for a particular ratio.

Examples of this phenomenon are evident when comparing key ratio ranges (see table 1) to the 2007 medians for similar ratios (see table 2). While the median GO credit had a household effective buying income (EBI) equal to 99% of the U.S. level, the key ratio ranges show that a credit with household EBI equal to 91% of the U.S. level would still be considered as having good income levels for supporting the typical tax burden associated with government services. While a credit with a general fund balance less than 21% of expenditures would be technically below the median, we would nevertheless view it as having a very strong balance.

Publication Date

April 2, 2008

Similarly, a credit with per capita net debt in excess of \$2,000 would be above the average, but Standard & Poor’s would generally view levels as high as \$5,000 per capita to be moderate.

Key Rating Factors

The relative weight of individual criteria elements is discussed in detail in Standard & Poor’s Public Finance Criteria published on RatingsDirect. When evaluating GO credits, Standard & Poor’s examines four main factors in the following order:

- Economic factors;
- Administrative factors;
- Financial factors; and
- Debt factors.

Variation in any of these factors can influence a bond rating. The description of key ratio ranges below will help clarify the significance of variations among ratios. They will also serve as a stable guide to what is considered high or low regardless of the economic cycle.

A note of caution

Ratios do not tell the whole story — they are only a portion of what Standard & Poor’s uses in its analysis. Economic, administrative, structural, and other qualitative factors may outweigh any of these ratios when a rating is assigned. Numbers alone can not determine an entity’s willingness to meet its financial obligations, nor can they reveal a history of late budgets or the operating restraints presented by the state/local framework.

The key ratios below do not represent a complete set of the ratios Standard & Poor’s uses in its analysis. We also incorporate information from many internal and external databases. Depending on various credit conditions, certain ratios can take on more significance than others. In addition, a municipal entity’s trends in any of these ratios may be more important than the historical ratios. A rating, after all, is prospective in nature.

Table 1

<i>Analytical Characterization Of Ratios</i>	
<i>Household/Per Capita Effective Buying Income As % Of U.S. Level</i>	
Low	Below 65%
Adequate	65%-90%
Good	90%-110%
Strong	110%-130%
Very strong	Above 130%
<i>Market Value Per Capita</i>	
Low	Below \$35,000
Adequate	\$35,000-\$55,000
Strong	\$55,000-\$80,000
Very strong	\$80,000-\$100,000
Extremely strong	Above \$100,000
<i>Top 10 Taxpayers</i>	

Public Finance Criteria: Key General Obligation Ratio Credit Ranges -- Analysis Vs. Reality

Table 1

Analytical Characterization Of Ratios (cont.'d)	
Very diverse	Below 15%
Diverse	15% - 25%
Moderately concentrated	25% - 40%
Concentrated	Above 40%
Available Fund Balance	
Low	Below 0%
Adequate	1%-4%
Good	4%-8%
Strong	8%-15%
Very strong	Above 15%
Debt Service As % Of Expenditures	
Low	Below 8%
Moderate	8%-15%
Elevated	15%-20%
High	Above 25%
Overall Net Debt Per Capita	
Very low	Below \$1,000
Low	\$1,000-\$2,000
Moderate	\$2,000-\$5,000
High	Above \$5,000
Overall Net Debt As % Of Market Value	
Low	Below 3%
Moderate	3%-6%
Moderately high	6%-10%
High	Above 10%

Table 2

Selected 2007 Medians For All Standard & Poor's Local Government GO Ratings	
Per capita EBI as % of U.S. level	95%
Household EBI as % of U.S. level	99%
Market value per capita	\$73,960
Top 10 taxpayers as % of assessed valuation	8.10%
Total general fund balance as % of expenditures	21%
Debt service as % of expenditures	7%
Overall net debt per capita	\$1,999
Overall net debt as % of market value	2.62%

GO Ratio Definitions

Table 3

GO Ratio Definitions	
Household/per capita effective buying income (EBI) % of U.S. level	Effective buying income measures income after taxes. Household EBI measures income on a household basis, regardless of the number of family members and compares it on a ratio basis to the national average. Per Capita EBI measures the same on a per person basis. Source: Claritas Inc.
Market value per capita	Total market value of all taxable property within the jurisdiction divided by population.
Top 10 taxpayers	This measures total assessed valuation of the 10 largest taxpayers as a percentage of the total taxable assessed valuation of the jurisdiction.
Available fund balance	The annual dollar amount of available reserves a municipality has in its operating and reserve funds at fiscal year-end.
Debt service as a percentage of expenditures	The portion of operating expenditures consumed by debt service costs.
Overall net debt per capita	This ratio measures net debt to population.
Overall net debt as a percentage of market value	A ratio of net debt to the taxable market value of the tax base.

Published by Standard & Poor's, a Division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. Executive offices: 1221 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10020. Editorial offices: 55 Water Street, New York, NY 10041. Subscriber services: (1) 212-438-7280. Copyright 2008 by The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc. Reproduction in whole or in part prohibited except by permission. All rights reserved. Information has been obtained by Standard & Poor's from sources believed to be reliable. However, because of the possibility of human or mechanical error by our sources, Standard & Poor's or others, Standard & Poor's does not guarantee the accuracy, adequacy, or completeness of any information and is not responsible for any errors or omissions or the result obtained from the use of such information. Ratings are statements of opinion, not statements of fact or recommendations to buy, hold, or sell any securities.

Standard & Poor's uses billing and contact data collected from subscribers for billing and order fulfillment purposes, and occasionally to inform subscribers about products or services from Standard & Poor's, our parent, The McGraw-Hill Companies, and reputable third parties that may be of interest to them. All subscriber billing and contact data collected is stored in a secure database in the U.S. and access is limited to authorized persons. If you would prefer not to have your information used as outlined in this notice, if you wish to review your information for accuracy, or for more information on our privacy practices, please call us at (1) 212-438-7280 or write us at: privacy@standardandpoors.com. For more information about The McGraw-Hill Companies Privacy Policy please visit www.mcgraw-hill.com/privacy.html.

Analytic services provided by Standard & Poor's Ratings Services ("Ratings Services") are the result of separate activities designed to preserve the independence and objectivity of ratings opinions. Credit ratings issued by Ratings Services are solely statements of opinion and not statements of fact or recommendations to purchase, hold, or sell any securities or make any other investment decisions. Accordingly, any user of credit ratings issued by Ratings Services should not rely on any such ratings or other opinion issued by Ratings Services in making any investment decision. Ratings are based on information received by Ratings Services. Other divisions of Standard & Poor's may have information that is not available to Ratings Services. Standard & Poor's has established policies and procedures to maintain the confidentiality of non-public information received during the ratings process.

Ratings Services receives compensation for its ratings. Such compensation is normally paid either by the issuers of such securities or by the underwriters participating in the distribution thereof. The fees generally vary from US\$2,000 to over US\$1,500,000. While Standard & Poor's reserves the right to disseminate the rating, it receives no payment for doing so, except for subscriptions to its publications.

Permissions: To reprint, translate, or quote Standard & Poor's publications, contact: Client Services, 55 Water Street, New York, NY 10041; (1) 212-438-9823; or by e-mail to: research_request@standardandpoors.com.

The McGraw-Hill Companies